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etween the 1880s and 1890s the

Jesuits (Society of Jesus), a religious
of the Catholic Church, came to
Egypt. The society was engaged in
apostolic ministry spanning 112
nations and six continents. Today,
the Jesuits continue to work in
education, founding schools, colleges,
universities and seminaries, as
well as carrying out intellectual
research and being involved with
cultural pursuits. In addition
they offer retreats, minister in
hospitals and parishes, and promote
social Justice and ecumenical
dialogue.

In the late 1880s, the Jesuit Plot
of Alexandria was purchased in
Cleopatra's quarter, named after
Queen Cleopatra pools. At that
time the Corniche was not yet
developed, and the plot extended
from the Corniche Avenue to
Ambroise Ralli or Tigran Street
(known as Port Said Street since
1956). The land was dubbed the
"outskirts"”, and used as a camp
site for Jesuit students on a
weekly basis.

The only buildings around the plot
were those of the Zananiri Souq
(a traditional market). Unfortunately,
the situation changed over the
years, and before the actual
commission of the building the
plot lost more than 50% of its
area.

The complex of the Jesuits was
designed by the Egyptian architect
Ferdinand J. Debbane, who was
also entrusted with the renovation
of one of the Spahi's houses in
Alexandria. The Centre was built
in 1953-1954 by Fayed Ismail, an
Egyptian general contractor. It
could be approached by the main
gate on Port Sald Street, or
through the gate that opens into
the garage building, or from
another gate from AL Dair, a side
street that connects the Corniche
Avenue to Port Said Street. To the
east of the main gate is a
building of rectangular floor
plan, which marks the eastern
border of +the complex and
nowadays serves as an Arabic
library.



This used to be a church known
as Notre dame des Paillassons,
and was originally roofed with
palm fronds before the construction of
the existing building. A wall
of more than two meters borders the
entire site, and a few shops
are attached to the southern
walls. The area behind these is
used as covered parking. The
principal building is situated
almost 35 meters from the
southern wall, opening onto a
rectangular plaza and a garden
guarded by two lion sculptures.
The plaza is paved with concrete tiles
is also used for open parking. The
plaza and garden together
extend around 45 meters along
the southern wall and are 18
meters in depth.

The masonry on the Centre is a
U-shaped concrete structure
measuring 35 by 78 meters, and
lends the complex a sense of
enclosure. It is divided into
three different attached buildings:
the church to the east; a theatre and
cinema school to the west; and
the main library, offices and
priests' chambers in the middle. The
architecture style of the building isa
combination of Modernism and Ilocal
additions, such as the red roof
tiles which invoke Mediterranean
architecture style. However the most
distinctive feature of the Centre is
the mixing between art and architecture,
as we see in the theatre. The building's
design is mostly a simple structural
form, with most door openings and
windows rectangular. The notable
exception to this is large cornices,
which define the ends of the
building's parapets, and graceful arches

at the entrances to every part
of the building. The building
has been well maintained and
remains in excellent condition.
Its colors are dominated by the
yellowish sandstone in harmony with
off-white paint, accented with
light maroon on parts of the
facades in the arched-openings
of the church porch.

The Southern Facade

Arwa Hany



The church building has a modest
symbolic form, with a bell-shape
that reaches over ten meters
at its highest point. The entrance
porch located on the southern
fagcade, while the altar is on
the opposite side on the
northern facade. The porch is
dominated by five arched-openings
which are raised on four white
marble steps. Beside the opening of
the first arch on the eastern
fagade are hung two white
marble signboards, the upper
engraved with the name of the
architect, Ferd Debbane, and on

the lower the contractor, Fayed Ismail.
There are also art-Deco-style
outdoor lighting units. The southern
facade of the church is solid save for
five arched windows on the ground
floor, above which hangs a large metal
cross. The 13-metre tower of the church
is fitted with a concrete-block; a base
for a flagpole mast that has not been
used since the building's construction.
The northern fagade of the building is
a semicircle split into two stories: the
lower contains ten bays with small
rectangular windows and a back entrance
door, and the upper consists of ten
vertical shades also topped by a cornice.

The Church Southern Facade

Mohamed Gohar



Both the eastern and western
facades of the church have an
outdoor passage on the upper
floor, which is fenced by a
metal handrail and is reachable by
a metal ladder.

The middle building was originally
two-stories, with a third floor
constructed in the 1980s for
the main library, administrative
offices and priest's chambers.
The southern fagade is divided
vertically by a ratio of 2:3
from east to west. The larger
side of the fagade has ten bays
of a protruding structure,
with ten recessed windows in
the first floor and eight on
the ground floor; the eighth
and ninth windows were replaced
by an arched entrance. The windows
of the ground floor are wooden—framed,
with wrought iron railings
painted a deep green, while the
first floor windows retain old
hinged metal curtains that
open from the top and upwards,
also painted in green.

Above the first floor windows
is a red-tiled cornice, which
adds a Mediterranean spirit to

the ©building's architecture
style. The newly-constructed
third floor continues above

the cornice that defines the
original height of the building,
following the same order of
the ten bays but replacing the
sixth through to the ninth bay
to the west with an open terrace.
The smaller part of the 2:3 ratio on
the southern facade is where the
main, French library is located. It
has five bays of a protruding

that link the ground and first
floor, providing ample shade and
channeling sunlight into the library.
The library hall, previously at
twice ceiling height, has been
split into two stories in recent
times. The windows on the ground
floor are wooden-framed openings
with wrought iron railings, and
each has a unique symbol relating
to a different discipline. Moving
from east to west, the symbols are
as follows: a book for Literature,
a right-angled triangle and compass
for Engineering, three flies for
Biology, a rack of test tubes for
Chemistry, and finally the Rod of
Asclepius for Medicine. Turning
to the northern fagade we find
the staircase and the windows of
the back rooms, which have prominent
upper terraces with arched—-openings
upon rounded columns. Behind the
terraces lie the first floor
rooms at an angle of 45 degrees.
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The Marble Signboards
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The Middle Building Southern Facade
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The Middle Building Northern Facade

Arwa Hany
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The French library Facade

Arwa Hany
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The third and the last part of
the building lies on the western
side and contains a theatre and
cinema school. The building is
two-stories, with a lattice carved

along its four <facades. The
southern fagade 1is relatively
simple and solid, and adorned

with six sculptured masks in an
Italian style on the south and
the upper-west corner. The top
cornice continues to define the
parapet of the building. Underneath
in the Western corner is an entrance
porch enclosed by five square-shaped
concrete columns. These columns
define two entrance openings on
the southern fag¢ade and another
three openings on the western
fagade, and indicate that the western
facade is intended as the main
approach to the theatre.

Another two signs in white marble
are located beside the entrance,
once again bearing the names of
Debbane and Ismail. The entrance
porch is raised on nine steps at a
height of 135 meters, allowing
an appropriate slope for raised
theatre seating.

Defining the western facade is a
flagpole mast on a concrete block
base and a side entrance to the
theatre. Beside the northern
facgade is the theatre tiring-house
(dressing room), which is three
stories high and topped with a
thick cornice. The western facgade
of the tiring-house has a linear
window on each of the three
floors, the northern fagade is
attached to the northern walls,
and the eastern facade faces the
backyard and garden.
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All the northern facgades of the
Centre face a garden reached by a
pathway beside the church entrance
porch which branches off from
the entrance plaza. Approaching
the backyard, it 1is noticeably
divided in two by an arcade pathway
that runs between the church and
the theatre, and the garden is
brimming with many types of
trees and plants, including palm
trees and flowers. This northern
garden is enclosed by the site
wall on the north which is covered
by high trees, and in the middle
of the garden is a water well
with a limestone fence that was
dug in the late-nineteenth century.

The sculptured masks
David Ashraf
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The Water Well
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The interior design of the Centre
is unique, and each part of the
building reflects its function.
To start with the church, it is
designed to make the worshippers
feel 1like participants in the
Mass rather than Jjust observers.
Each part of the church has a
religious symbolism, and most of
its furnishings serve a specific
religious purpose.

The design of this church is based
on the principles of Rationalism,
which invokes a strong sense of
purity, harmony and modernity
using the fewest and simplest
possible elements. The ground
plan is based on a bell-like
shape. A small narthex consisting
of the lobby and book store separates
the church from the entrance
porch, located at south of the
building. Above the narthex there
is a mezzanine for the choir
where a pipe organ is placed. The
church consists of two side-aisles
and a nave, and each side-aisle is
divided by a row of reinforced
concrete pillars which carry a
Barrel Vault ceiling. The altar
faces northwest, rather than
east. The entrance consists of two
identical doors, between which
there is a painted wooden sculpture
of Christ on the Cross. On the
left side of the entrance is a
sculpture of Virgin Mary, and on
the right a confessional room. As
is customary in Catholic churches,
sculptures following the stages
of the crucifixion have been
placed on both long side-walls.
There is also a set of windows,
and halfway along each there are
3 doors into confessional booths.
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Two small altars, at the end of
both long side-walls, define the
transept of +the building, and
both bear the Christian symbol of
the four Greek letters alfa, chi,
rho, and omega, signifying
'Christ, the beginning and the
end'. In addition, each altar contains
a sculpture: the first of Saint
Francis Xavier and the second
Saint Teresa, both sculpted by
Gamal El-Sagini (1917-1977). The
western altar also contains dedication
plaques, with a variety of messages
expressing the benefactors' gratitude
to God. Above the main altar there
is a large relief of Notre Dame
d'Egypte which pictures the Virgin
Mary dressed in traditional Egyptian
clothing carrying +the Child
Jesus, which was made by Egypt's
most famous sculptor, Mahmoud
Mousa (1913-2003).

Notre Dame d'Egypte

Sara Ali



The Main Altar of the Church

David Ashraf
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Moving to the west, the central
masonry of the Centre has two
separate ground-floor entrances;
the first, to the east, leads to
the reception, a secretary's
office and a side passage from
which the priest's area - which
contains a library, administrative
offices and a kitchen - can be reached.
At the end of this passage lies a
porch with a service door into to
the church, and a side staircase
that leads to the upper floors.
The other ground-floor entrance
lies to the west of the masonry,
with a side porch that opens into

a hall. This hall leads onto
administrative offices in the
north and west wings, and the

main French library to the east,
a room of originally double-height
which has since been separated
into two stories. The hall itself
contains five busts that may be
were discovered during the construction
of the Centre, one of which portrays
the head of Emperor Julius Caesar.
Beside the library is another staircase
that leads only to the first floor,
where the rest of the administrative
offices sit along with a meeting
room and the priests' chambers.
The second floor, added in the
1980s, contains more rooms along
with a small sound-insulated hall
used for different performances.

Continuing to the west side of the
Centre, the theatre and cinema zone
can be accessed from a western porch.
This porch continues into an entrance
hall which is used as a gallery; it
exhibits vintage movie projectors
(Debrie 16 and Simplex) and photographs
of classic actors and old movies posters.
The hall connects the theatre's
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auditorium with the central building
of the Centre. On its eastern side
is a staircase that leads to the
upper floors, and on the western
side, behind the principal wooden
door, lies the theatre's auditorium.

This auditorium, with a capacity
of over 300, contains two stories
and has a row of reinforced
concrete pillars on its left and
right sides. These create a side
passage along the two walls of
the auditorium. Visually, each of
these side walls is split
vertically into two parts by a
thick white cornice stretching
between the north and the south
walls. The lower part is painted
in dark red color, while the
upper is painted in cyan and
carved into a square-grid. On the
upper part are the large-scale
sculptures of dramatic Italian
theatre masks. The auditorium's
old-fashioned blue seats are in
rows and parted by a central
access passage. A cinema screen is
located on the southern wall, and
covered by sliding red curtains
in the event of a theatre play.

The tiring-house rises from
behind the stage, and extends to
the west of the building. Use of
the three-story section of the
playhouse is restricted to performers
and technicians, and contains the
dressing rooms, prop room, and
musician's gallery. The tiring-house
can be accessed by a metal spiral
staircase on its western side, and
concrete stairs on 1its eastern
side.



The Theatre

Lamis Solyman

The Tiring-house

Lamis Solyman
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The Arcade Pathway

Arwa Hany
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The Southern Facade Windows

Esraa Magdy
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Windows & Doors
~ 1. Moustafa Khedr

2. Esraa Magdy
3. Esraa Magdy
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1. Site Plan, Mohamed Gohar

2. Southern Facade, Mohamed A. E1 Gohary
. 3. Western Facgade, Mohamed A. E1 Gohary

4. Eastern Facade, Mohamed A. E1 Gohary

5. Northern Fag¢ade, Marwa Kamel
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Lighting Units

- 1,2,3,5 Sara Ali

4., Yomna Habib
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Memory Of The Place

Interview: Mohamed Gohar
Article:Aya Fathalla Abo Rays,
Clarissa Hjalmarsson
Illustrations: Mai Koraiem

n 140 Ignatius of Loyola founded

the Society of Jesus (The Jesuits)
after being wounded in battle and
experiencing a religious conversion.
During the 1880s-90s the Jesuits
started operating in Egypt with a
vision of establishing a centre of
religious teachings for Egyptian
Copts. They established two schools:
one at Al1Mosqgi, Cairo, and another
at Abd Al Meniem Street, Alexandria.
Teaching Latin, Greek, basic sciences
and religion, the schools in Egypt

were indistinguishable from
their sister schools in France.
Later Peére Jullien purchased

more land on behalf of the Jesuits:
at Ramses, Cairo, and at Cleopatra,
Alexandria.

The Jesuits were under the patronage
of the Jesuit Province of Lyon.
Due to the modest number of students
enrolled in the 1920s, the head of
this Province visited Egypt and
decided to close down one of the
two schools. This was logical, as
the number of students enrolled
at both schools did not exceed 350
compared to around 50 priests.

25

Although he had initially decided
to close the Cairo school, after
a couple of days, St. Frangois Xavier,
the Alexandria school, was marked
for closure instead. In addition
Pére Jacques Masson, who headed
the Jesuits of Alexandria between
1970 and 1986, related that the
school, which was built in 1884,
officially closed in 1922. It later
became the 0ld security directorate
of Alexandria, until recently
when the directorate was moved to
Smouha, Alexandria.

Part of the Cleopatra plot bought
earlier by Pere Jullien was used
as a maison de campagne (country house)
for the Jesuit students. There
the Jesuits owned a sea-view
cabin, and could bathe in the sea
or across from the cabin at the
Cleopatra pools. This cabin was
rented out for some time before
being sold in 1923, when the
development of the Corniche reached
Cleopatra. One strip of the plot
was taken over by the government
and used as a school. The Jesuits
continued to sell strips of the land,



as the priests were more comfortable
at Abou Al Derdar, the other residence
- owned by the Jesuits, and the Cleopatra
plot was then considered to be on
the outskirts of Alexandria.
Unfortunately, pieces of the plot
continued to be sold until 1970,
when Pére Jacques Masson sold the
last strip preserving the rest
where the centre was erected.
Pére Masson recalled that during
the First World War a villa was
situated in the middle of the
plot, named Villa Hanna, where
wounded French soldiers were
hospitalized. After +the war

ended, it served as a hospital for
the mentally ill. In the 30s or
40s Mr Zottos, a Greek merchant,

rented the villa both to live in
and to manufacture Ouzo, a traditional
Greek alcoholic beverage. In 1941
the Jesuits moved across the
street from Zottos, at Villa Al
Deeb. Some years later in 1950
Peére Hubert de Leusse moved into
Villa Zottos on the first floor
while Zottos maintained his residence
and business at ground level. Pére
de Leusse played a significant role
in Zottos' subsequent move to a
new premise. In 1953 the
construction of the complex took
place with architect Ferdinand
Debbane and contractor Fayed
Ismail, who also built the eleven-story
apartment building on the plot's
other side.
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During Mr Zottos' stay in the villa, its transformation into a cultural
more activity was happening on the hub. What had been a stretch of
- south—-west corner of the plot where nothingness becamethe vibrant place
Port Said Street meets Al Dair Street. it is today, where thousands of fond
Here Mr Tchakos, an Alexandrian who memories are made each year. Freére
also owned a plot next to the old Fayezalso commissioned the architect
security directorate, rented the land. Tarek Abo E1 Fottouh to design the
This latter plot, the one next to the interior of a theatre, in which many
security directorate, was turned into talented artists have performed.

a petrol station that remains popular

in the region. Tchakos rented the Perhaps the most remarkable element
Cleopatra plot out to a Mr Zogheib, who of the Centre is the overwhelming
built a garage on it, a name by which feeling, when one pauses in any of its
it is still known today. Zogheib rented spaces, of a rich and multifarious
this garage to The Meat & Poultry history nestling in its cool corridors
Company. From the 1950s, many and sweeping arches. As we walked
unsuccessful attempts were made to through with the responsible his keychain
retrieve the garage plot, before the Jjingled, echoing the countless memories
land was returned to its original stowed in this establishment, and, as
owners in the early 1980s. After this he guided us through its empty
the garage remained dormant, walkways, we too left the traces of
until Frere Fayez Saad orchestrated our hope and dreams on its walls.
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As part of our efforts to document the cultural
and architectural heritage of Alexandria, the
Description of Alexandria team publishes a regular
issues, titled The Journal. This installment documents
the Jesuit Cultural Center. We would like to
thank Description of Alexandria team members
for their contributions to this issue of The
Journal.

We would also like to convey thanks to the Jesuit
team and professor Yasser Aref for their invaluable
assistance, support, and encouragement.



Description of Alexandria is a cultural and artistic
project carried out by a team of volunteer architects,
artists, and researchers, and it was initiated by
the team leader, sketcher, researcher and architect
Mohamed Gohar in 2013. The project seeks to document
the remains of Alexandria and its architectural
heritage, presenting a true & actual image of today's
Alexandria and the remains of the past. The project
is characterized by sketching and drawing in addition
to the architectural description of the buildings and
the historical context, the project also describes
the buildings and its surrounding environment
as well as the cultural background. This is
being done in a bid to raise awareness of the
threats posed by rapid and unplanned urban development.
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